
DRAFT MINUTES 
Nevada Board of Wildlife Commissioners’ Meeting 

Great Basin College Campus 
1500 College Parkway 

Elko, Nevada 
Amended Agenda  

Attachment A – Cecil Fredi Comments  
Friday, August 14, 2009 – 1:30 p.m. 
 
Call to Order, Introduction and Roll Call of County Advisory Board Members to Manage Wildlife (CABMW) 
– Chairman Lent 
 
Amended – 1. Election of Officers – Chairman Lent – Action  
In accordance with Commission Policy #1 the Commission will elect a chairman and vice chairman for 
fiscal year 2010. 

 
Employee Appreciation – Deputy Director Rich Haskins 

 
Commissioner Appreciation – Secretary Mayer 
 
Approval of Agenda – Action 
 
Member Items/Announcements  

 
County Advisory Boards to Manage Wildlife (CABMW) Member Items – 
  
Public Comment Period 
 
2  Approval of Minutes – Action 
  Commission meeting minutes from the May 15 and 16, 2009, meeting.  
 
3 Correspondence – Chairman – Informational 
 The Commission will review and may discuss written items sent or received by the Commission 
 since the last regular meeting and provide copies for the exhibit file.  

 
 Workshop - Informational  
 
4 Commission General Regulation 364 LCB File No. R206-08 - Game Division Chief Mark Atkinson 
 – Informational  
 Commission General Regulation 364 LCB File No. R206-08 proposes changes to elk damage 
 and elk incentive tag regulations which make revisions to NAC 502.42259, 502.42261, 
 502.42263, 502.42266, and 504.350.  
 
5 Commission Policy #1, First Reading – Commissioner Scott Raine –   
 Informational    
 In accordance with Commission Policy #1, the Commission will have a first reading of proposed 
 updates from the Commission’s Administrative Procedures, Regulations and Policy Committee 
 for Commission Policy #1, “General Guidelines for the Commission.”  The Commission will be 
 asked to approve proposed changes to Commission Policy #1 and dividing Commission Policy #1 
 into three separate policies:  
  
 A Commission Policy #1, “General Guidelines for the Commission”  
 
 B Commission Policy #3, “Appeals Policy”  
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

2 
 

 C Commission Policy #4, “Petition Process and Adoption of Regulation   
  Policy” 

 
6 Muzzleloader Visual Disability Modifications Workshop – Deputy Director Rich Haskins – 
 Informational Workshop 
 The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has asked that the Nevada Department of Wildlife 
 implement a process whereby reasonable modifications to the muzzleloader hunting program 
 are available to accommodate hunters with visual disabilities, as a result of a multi-state 
 disability complaint by the North American Muzzleloader Association.   

 
7 Potential Conversion of the Wine Cup Ranch to a Wild Horse Refuge – Ken Wellington, Elko 
 County Advisory Board to Manage Wildlife – Action 
 The Commission will be asked to take possible action on responding to  renewed interest in the 
 development of portions of the Wine Cup Ranch in Elko  County into a wild horse 
 refuge. Changes proposed in HR1018 may allow such a  conversion to occur.   
 
8 Reports – Informational 
 
A Litigation Report – Deputy Attorney General Nhu Nguyen 
 
B Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies Report – Commissioner Tom Cavin and 

Secretary Ken Mayer 
  
C Department Activities/Leadership Team Notes – Secretary Ken Mayer  
 
D Heritage Committee – Commissioner Tom Cavin 
 
E Application Hunt 2009 Draw Report – Don Sefton and Monty Martin, Systems Consultants 
 
F 48 Hour Draw Release Update – Don Sefton, Systems Consultants 
 
Saturday, August 15, 2009 – 8:30 a.m.  
 
Call to Order, Introduction and Roll Call of County Advisory Board Members to  Manage Wildlife 
(CABMW) – Chairman  

 
Member Items/Announcements  

 
County Advisory Boards to Manage Wildlife (CABMW) Member Items – 
 
Public Comment Period 

 
9 Wildlife Damage Management Committee – Commissioner Scott Raine – Action  

The Commission will hear a report from its Wildlife Damage Management Committee and be 
asked to take action on the committee’s draft plan recommendations that identify predator 
management proposals for the Predator Management Plan for 2010.  
 

10 Online Hunt Application Changes/Amendments after Application  Submission – Chief of 
 Operations Bob Haughian - Action 
 The CABMWs and the public are requested to review options presented and make 
 recommendation to the Commission. The Commission will be asked to make a selection of one 
 of the proposed options.  

 
 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

3 
 

11 Bitterbrush and Wildfire – Cliff Gardner – Informational  
Mr. Cliff Gardner will make a presentation on bitterbrush and wildfire and their effects on wildlife 
habitat. 
  

 Commission Regulations – Action   

    
12 Commission Regulation 07 - 07 Amendment #4 - Game Division Staff 
 Biologist Kevin Lansford – Action 
 The proposed amendment to Commission Regulation 07 – 07 Amendment #4 addresses 
 changes to the bobcat pelt sealing dates that were approved at the June Commission meeting in 
 Lovelock.   
 
13 Commission Regulation 09 - 08 - Game Division Staff Biologist Craig Mortimore– Action 

The proposed Commission Regulation 09 –08 recommends season dates and bag limits for 
migratory waterfowl, common snipe, coots and moorhens for 2009-10. The proposed regulation 
also recommends dates and bag limits for the special youth waterfowl hunt and falconry season 
dates and bag limits for migratory game birds. 

 
14 Commission General Regulation 364 LCB File No. R206-08 - Game Division Chief Mark 
 Atkinson – Action  
 Commission General Regulation 364 LCB File No. R206-08 proposes that the Commission 
 accept changes to elk damage and elk incentive tag regulations  which make revisions to NAC 
 502.42259, 502.42261, 502.42263, 502.42266,  and 504.350. Note: See support material under 
 agenda item #3.  
 
15 Commission Policy #1, Second Reading – Commissioner Scott Raine –   
 Action  
 In accordance with Commission Policy #1, the Commission will have a second reading of 
 proposed updates from the Commission’s Administrative Procedures, Regulations and Policy 
 Committee for Commission Policy #1, “General Guidelines for the  Commission.” The 
 Commission will be asked to  adopt the proposed changes to Commission  Policy #1 and 
 dividing Commission Policy #1 into three separate policies:   
  
 A Commission Policy #1, “General Guidelines for the Commission”  
 
 B Commission Policy #3, “Appeals Policy”  
 
 C Commission Policy #4, “Petition Process and Adoption of Regulation    
  Policy” 
  
16 Future Commission Meeting – Director Ken Mayer - Action 

The next Commission meeting is scheduled for September 25 and 26, 2009, in Las Vegas; and 
the Commission will review potential agenda items for that meeting. The Chairman may 
designate and adjust committee assignments as necessary at this meeting. 

 
Nevada Board of Wildlife Commissioners present for two day meeting: 

Chairman Gerald Lent  Vice Chairman Scott Raine Commissioner Tom Cavin  
Commissioner Mike McBeath  Commissioner Charlie Howell Commissioner Pete Mori  
Commissioner Bruce Kobrin Commissioner Daryl Capurro Commissioner Grant Wallace 
 
Secretary/Director Kenneth E. Mayer   Bryan L. Stockton, Deputy Attorney General  
Nhu Nguyen, Deputy Attorney General   Suzanne Scourby, Recording Secretary  
 
   
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

4 
 

Nevada Department of Wildlife personnel present: 
Deputy Director Rich Haskins    Waterfowl Biologist Craig Mortimore  
Chief of Conservation Education Kelly Clark  Big Game Biologist Kevin Lansford 
Conservation Educator Joe Doucette   Big Game Biologist Larry Gilbertson 
Kari Huebner, Big Game Biologist   

Others in Attendance/Two Day Meeting: 

Gil Yanuck, Carson CABMW    Mike Laughlin, self 
Cecil Fredi, Hunter’s Alert     Mel Belding, self 
Rick Smith, Chairman Washoe CABMW   Paul R. Dixon, Chairman Clark CABMW 
Cliff Gardner, self      Craig Burnside, Douglas CABMW 
Jeremy Drew, Coalition for Nevada’s Wildlife   George Corner, Nevada Outfitters and Guides Assoc. 
Allie Bear, self       Boyd M. Spratling, DVM, self 
Tom Smith, Coal/self     Bob Brunner, self 
Pat Laughlin, Nevada Alliance 4 Wildlife    Hank Vogler, sportsmen 
Caleb McAdoo, Nevada Bighorns Unlimited    Mitchell L. Moriala, sportsmen 
Judi Caron, self      Dianna Belding, self 
Jerry DePalma, self     Dell Nielson, self 
Chris Torres, Chairman Eureka CABMW   Chad Bliss, Eureka CABMW 
Tony Carone, self      Connie Lee, self 
 Ken Wellington, chairman Elko CABMW   Bill Meyer, Lyon CABMW 
Jim Jenne, Chairman Lyon CABMW    Meghan Brown, Nevada Cattleman’s Association 
Joe Brown, self      Mark Jensen, USDA Wildlife Services 
Julie Von Tobel Gleason, self and RAC/Mojave Basin  Michael Gleason Jr., self 
J.J. Goicochea, DVM, NV Cattleman’s Association and self Jeremy Drew, Coalition Nevada’s Wildlife 
Josh Vittori, self      James Matheus, Lander CABMW 
Dan Galian, Nevada Cattleman’s Association   William Miller, White Pine CABMW 
Jim Miller, self      Henry Krenka, Nevada Outfitters and Guides Assoc. 
Audrey Spratling      Rod Mothershed, Elko CABMW 
Don Sefton, Systems Consultants    Monty Martin, Systems Consultants 
Brady Shippy, self      Jurad Dubach, Elko Daily Free Press 
Shawn Marshall, self     Jack Peters, self 
Mike Smith, self      Kams Wolf, self 
L. Wolf, self      Joe Bennett, USDA, Wildlife Services 

 
Friday, August 14, 2009 - 1:30 p.m. 
 
Chairman Lent called the meeting to order and audio and videotape recording problems were 
noted by the recording secretary and videographer a few minutes after the meeting started. 
Chairman Lent stopped the meeting to have the audio and videotaping systems restarted to 
insure that the meeting would be recorded in accordance with Nevada’s Open Meeting Law.  
 
Call to Order, Introduction and Roll Call of County Advisory Board Members to Manage Wildlife 
(CABMW) – Chairman Lent called the meeting to order at 1:54 p.m. and asked to have the roll 
call of CABMW members retaken: Ken Wellington, chairman Elko; Gil Yanuck, chairman Carson; 
Bill Miller, chairman White Pine; Paul Dixon, chairman Clark; Rick Smith, chairman Washoe, Jim 
Jenne, chairman Lyon CABMW; Bill Meyer, Lyon CABMW; Chris Torres, chairman Eureka 
CABMW; and Chad Bliss, Eureka CABMW. 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

5 
 

Recording Secretary Suzanne Scourby called roll of the Commissioner’s present for the two day 
meeting: Chairman Lent, Commissioners Capurro, Cavin, Howell, Kobrin, McBeath, Mori, Raine, 
and Wallace.  
 
1 Election of Officers – Chairman Lent – Action 

 
Commissioner McBeath said he made point of order on issue of agenda, and will lay the facts 
out and then go to his questions: The facts are two weeks before this Commission meeting we 
received our packet with the agenda item for election of officers as agenda item #8 and then 
Chairman Lent amended the agenda well before the three day period, and that is not the issue, 
but that he amended the agenda to move the election to agenda item #1 and his question is 
Commission Policy #1 states that the agenda is final two weeks prior to the meeting. If that is 
the case how do we change the agenda order. 
 
Deputy Attorney General (DAG) Bryan Stockton said is he is senior DAG for the Attorney 
General’s Office and that Open Meeting Law (OML) takes precedence over Wildlife Commission 
rules and the agenda has to be published at least three days prior to the meeting and the last 
published agenda is the public notice and that is the agenda we have to go by. 
 
Commissioner Raine called for “Orders of the Day” and the need to adhere to the agenda as 
stated, the point of order has shown no infraction of the rules or improper (unintelligble word) 
speaking.  
 
Chairman Lent said we are going to have election of officers. 
 
Tom Smith said he is a member of Nevada’ Wildlife and objects to manipulation of the agenda, 
and his first amendment rights and also object to Chairman Lent’s manipulation in order to 
make a mockery of the OML and also strenuously object to him as Chairman of this Committee 
(sic).  
 
Chairman Lent asked Mr. Smith to stop, and he asked that Secretary Mayer direct staff to 
remove Mr. Smith from the room for being out of order. 
 
Mr. Smith asked everyone to stand who has objections to Gerry Lent doing this as a personal 
silent protest for his actions in this agenda.  
 
Chairman Lent called the meeting back to order, and next item of business was...  
 
COMMISSIONER MCBEATH MOVED TO SATISFY THE άhRDER OF THE DAYέ AND TO MOVE TO 
POSTPONE AGENDA ITEM #1 UNTIL AFTER THE CABMW COMMENT AND PUBLIC COMMENT 
PERIOD. COMMISSIONER MORI SECONDED THE MOTION.  
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

6 
 

Commissioner Raine said in order to deviate from “Orders of the Day” we have to suspend the 
rules. 
 
Chairman Lent said a two-thirds vote is required to set aside “Rules of the Day” and that is to 
suspend the rules. 
 
Mr. Smith was escorted from the room by Lt. Pfiffner of the Nevada Department of Wildlife.  
 
Commissioner Raine moved to suspend the rules, with a two-thirds vote. 
  
DAG Stockton read from “Roberts Rules of Order”: That under the rules, a “yes” vote sets aside 
“Rules of the Day” and allows the agenda to be changed, and cautioned that changing the 
agenda can be seen as violating the spirit of OML; however if you have good reason and no one 
is prejudiced as it appears in this case, you can change the agenda. He said you will need seven 
votes. 
 
COMMISSIONERS IN FAVOR (YES VOTE): COMMISSIONERS MCBEATH, WALLACE, CAVIN AND 
MORI. OPPOSED: CHAIRMAN LENT, COMMISSIONERS CAPURRO, HOWELL, RAINE, KOBRIN. 
MOTION FAILED 4 - 5. 
 
Chairman Lent said the motion failed and we will proceed with nomination of officers.  
 
COMMISSIONER KOBRIN MOVED TO NOMINATE GERALD LENT FOR CHAIRMAN.  
 
COMMISSIONER MCBEATH SAID HE WOULD LIKE TO NOMINATE COMMISSIONER CAVIN AS 
WILDLIFE CHAIRMAN AND SAID HE BELIEVES HE WOULD DO AN OUTSTANDING JOB AS HE IS 
AN EXCELLENT PERSON FOR THIS POSITION AND HE WILLING TO WORK WITH OTHERS. 
 
Chairman Lent asked for a vote in the order of the nominations made, and first vote is for 
nomination of Gerald A. Lent.  
 
COMMISSIONERS IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION: CHAIRMAN LENT, RAINE, KOBRIN, HOWELL, 
AND CAPURRO. OPPOSED: COMMISSIONERS MORI, CAVIN, WALLACE, AND MCBEATH. 
MOTION CARRIED 5 ς 4. 
 
Chairman Lent asked for nominations on vice chair. 
 
COMMISSIONER HOWELL NOMINATED COMMISSIONER RAINE AS VICE CHAIR.  
 
COMMISSIONER MORI NOMINATED COMMISSIONER CAVIN FOR VICE CHAIR.  
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

7 
 

COMMISSIONERS IN FAVOR OF THE FIRST NOMINATION: CHAIRMAN LENT, CAPURRO, 
HOWELL, RAINE, AND KOBRIN. COMMISSIONERS OPPOSED: MORI, CAVIN, WALLACE AND 
MCBEATH. MOTION CARRIED 5 ς 4.  
 
Chairman Lent said Commissioner Raine has been elected as the new vice chair. 
 
Employee Appreciation – Deputy Director Rich Haskins 
 
Deputy Director Haskins presented Supervising Big Game Biologist Larry Gilbertson of the Elko 
NDOW office with his 30 year tenure award. 
 
Commissioner Appreciation –  
 
Director Mayer said Commissioner Swanson was unable to attend today’s meeting and would 
ask the Commission to hold this item over until the September meeting. 
 
Approval of Agenda –  
 
COMMISSIONER CAPURRO MOVED TO APPROVE THE AGENDA. COMMISSIONER RAINE 
SECONDED THE MOTION. MOTION CARRIED 8 - 0. 
 
Member Items/Announcements – 
 
Chairman Lent asked staff to have the temporary regulations of wanton waste and 48 hour 
notification of draw results that were previously adopted during the legislative session brought 
back as permanent regulations for adoption by the Commission on the September agenda.  
 
Chairman Lent welcomed and introduced new Commissioners: Daryl Capurro, Bruce Kobrin, 
and Charlie Howell, and each provided the audience with information about themselves. 
 
Commissioner Capurro said he is the new representative for conservation and is retired after 37 
years from the Motor Transport Association. 
 
Commissioner Kobrin the new general public representative from Las Vegas said he is the vice 
president of Wirtz Beverage, and is an avid outdoor recreationist. 
 
Commissioner Howell said he is the new representative for sportsmen and that he has been a 
Las Vegas resident since 1947 and is an avid Nevada hunter and fisherman.  
 
 
 
 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

8 
 

CABMW Member Items – 
 
Jim Jenne, Lyon CABMW, said today we just saw our government in action here and would 
mention to new Commission that he does not feel Commission is up there to do what they 
want. He said there are 17 CABMWs and expect the Commission to at least listen to them. Mr. 
Jenne said he and Chairman Gerald Lent have been around and does not believe that since he 
helped with the appointment of Director Mayer that all he has done is fight, and he said time to 
move ahead.  
 
Chairman Lent said to the CABMWs members that if they have any specific items for the 
agenda he would be glad to have them here and to send to him for placement on an agenda.  
 
Jim Jenne, Lyon CABMW, said this morning was politics and the Commission did not listen to 
people on the vote. He said we need to work together and get something done.  
 
Public Comment – 
 
Gil Yanuck, Carson CABMW, welcomed the new Commissioners to the Commission and knows 
difficult situation they are in and looks forward to working together with Commission and 
CABMWs to benefit wildlife conservation habitat and sports people of Nevada and large trust 
placed upon them and hope that trust is fulfilled and make progress toward things we want to 
work on and we will work with you and support you.  
 
Rick Smith, Washoe CABMW, said speaking on behalf of himself, said discouraging as CABMWs 
and public work hard to present their position and nothing personal as comments are meant to 
address positive leadership on the Commission and nobody would argue that we ask that you 
listen to CABMWs and people and special interest groups work hard to show you how 
sportsmen feel and feel this past year has been rough and knows it has been rough for the 
Commission and need to meet common ground or will have another year like last year, and we 
want to be heard. He said the subcommittees that have fair representation are not perceived as 
stacked representation and he would ask the Commission to look at subcommittee structure 
and to put a CABMW member on every committee and listen to public and never meant to be 
an attack and want the Commission to listen.  
 
Chairman Lent said that he would be happy to put CABMW items on the Commission agenda.  
 
Chad Bliss, Eureka CABMW, said since Chairman Lent brought up putting things on the agenda 
he would request that the Silver State Tag (SST) be put on the agenda so that we can go 
forward, as one year goes fast and each meeting that the SST is not on the agenda the hunters 
and department lose ground for that opportunity. He asked that SST be placed on the agenda.  
 
Chairman Lent asked if the Heritage Committee had discussed this – SST. 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

9 
 

Commissioner Cavin said no, the Heritage Committee had not discussed. 
 
Commissioner Capurro asked that requests for agenda items be put in writing. 
 
Commissioner McBeath thanked Mr. Bliss for his effort on SST as that is an example of what 
ground level effort can accomplish.  
 
Mr. Hank Vogler showed pictures of a sheep that he had named “Chin Creek Chin” from Chin 
Creek to the Commission before he was killed by a Department biologist due to appearing ill, 
and Mr. Vogler provided a history of health of sheep and noted that NDOW Biologist Baughman 
of NDOW is not a vet and that no vet was not present when this sheep was put down. He said a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was signed by NDOW, Woolgrowers, and Department 
of Agriculture and protocol not followed in this incident. He said these sheep lived together for 
seven years and occasional brush against domestic sheep is not the problem portrayed. The 
problem is that predators are wiping out our deer herd, and Commission is board of directors 
and you are to manage people who work for the Commission. He said we get charged $3 and 
NDOW takes $80,000 when you could hire trappers for Wildlife Services. Mr. Vogler said we 
don’t’ want to get the rest of them killed, let’s do predator control and use money wisely. 
  
Paul Dixon, Clark CABMW, said he is speaking for himself, and that he would like a point of 
order in regard to the public comment cards used for public comment at Commission meetings, 
as the former vice chair (Ron Lurie) used one card for all comments at one meeting. He asked if 
the new vice chair needs a card specifically for each agenda or item that they wish to comment 
on. He said he welcomes the new Commissioners and they come on a board that is split and 
would like the board to come together, and be unanimous in their decisions. His 
recommendation that they iron out their differences, and would second the use of a CABMW 
member on Commission subcommittees, and have seen active engagement of boards and 
spreading that around the boards would be helpful.  
 
Commissioner Raine said in response to Mr. Dixon’s question on the public comment card, that 
it would be helpful if the person requesting to speak denoted the agenda items they wish to 
address on the card. 
 
Chairman Lent said if we do miss anyone who wishes to comment to please raise your hand as 
that could happen.  
   
Mel Belding said he is from Washoe County, and serves on the Board of Directors for the 
Nevada Wildlife Coalition, and that Mr. Tom Smith spoke without their consent or knowledge, 
and he apologized for his actions as being uncalled for.  
 
Jeremy Drew said he is a member of different sportsmen groups as well as Safari CIub 
International (SCI) and welcomed the new members to the Commission. His recommendation 
on the confusion in how the Commission takes public comment is that he would recommend 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

10 
 

policy that provides for public comment on action items. He said that today he drove 300 miles 
to speak on an item and was denied comment.  
 
Pat Laughlin, Alliance for Nevada’s Wildlife, said someone talked earlier about listening to the 
CABMWs, and that the CABMWs have to listen too. He said there are two predator projects in 
Area 6, with one on ravens for sage grouse in Area 6 and 7. He said that he discussed the 
projects with Chairman Ken Wellington of the Elko CABMW and he has been trying to keep him 
posted, but we are going nowhere and have 100 percent approval from Elko County 
Commission and they are eager and curious as to what is going on as he is getting nowhere with 
staff. Mr. Laughlin read the Elko CABMW agenda to tell the Commission about the election 
issue. 
 
Chairman Lent said for him to submit something to Commission. 
 
Ken Wellington, Elko CABMW, said the difference in the CABMW from the Commission agenda 
is that the general comment on the agenda states that you can have public comment and there 
was none on the election item for the Wildlife Commission. 
 
Mr. Fredi continued read a letter into the record and the letter is Attachment A to the minutes.  
 
Mr. Fredi’s public comment period was interrupted by DAG Stockton as he cautioned Mr. Fredi 
to not use names as that can be a personal attack on a person even though persons not named.  
 
Deputy Attorney General (DAG) Nguyen said even though Department is an entity it is 
considered a “person.”  
 
2  Approval of Minutes – May 15 and 16, 2009 
 
COMMISSIONER CAVIN MOVED TO APPROVE MAY 15 AND 16, 2009. COMMISSIONER 
WALLACE SECONDED THE MOTION. MOTION CARRIED 8 ς 0. 
 
2 Correspondence – Chairman Lent – Informational 
 
Commissioner Howell said he would like to read personal comments into the record: At the 
November 2008 Wildlife Commission meeting he and other old timers testified how great mule 
deer hunting used to be in Nevada and he said maybe he is wrong but it appears that testimony 
fell on deaf ears. Idaho hunters have same concerns with big game as Nevada not being 
addressed, and that Idaho lost elk 30 to 80 percent radio collared calves to predators, and they 
blamed decline on habitat. Wolves are causing up to $24 million lost revenue and his first 
question is how much do we lose, 1989 peak year for mule deer according to NDOW stats, and 
second question is what have mule deer biologists done for the last 20 years to rein in the 
losses. 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

11 
 

DAG Stockton said if comments criticize conduct they are inappropriate at this time as five days 
written notice is required. 
 
Commissioner Howell said he will table the comments for later.  
 
 Workshop ς Informational  
 
4 Commission General Regulation 364 – Game Division Chief Mark Atkinson  
 
 Secretary Mayer said the Mr. Atkinson is ill and Biologist Gilbertson will present the 

regulation. 
 

Biologist Larry Gilbertson said the committee has worked on these elk NAC regulations and 
changes for two years with public meetings and rewrites. He said sportsmen asked for some 
things as did the livestock industry. He said the old wording had livestock operators having 
applicants go above and beyond the objective level and support increases above objective 
level, which has already been decided in subplans and species plan, and these big groups 
agreed on objective level that we manage for; however, if you wanted to apply for elk 
incentive tag, the NAC wording said you had to ask for more, again going above and beyond 
the objective level, which even the Department cannot support. It meant ranchers had to 
be a cheerleader for elk not just a cooperator, and that wording was changed to be more 
reasonable whereby an applicant  supports objective level defined in the subplan, and there 
was another quirk in NAC on that objective level that the director and applicant had to 
agree on and that just did not exist, wording pertains to subplans that we all worked on and 
no longer have to support elk above the increase, just have to support established objective 
in subplan. He said the regulation also clarifies wording on native haymeadow, the 
definition now fits both as a crop and native haymeado, and used same language as used 
for depredation, so both programs match for evaluation for clarity for the landowner. He 
said there was no teeth in the program for providing sportsmen access, as both the deer 
and antelope compensation programs have language for access, and we will require 
through NAC that you provide access through your private land to public lands, and if 
sometime during the year you have problems with sportsmen and deny access, there is 
language that we will not issue elk incentive tags to you in the next year. He said usually 
there is access around locked gates by using other roads, and not usually a problem with elk 
hunts, but will have that in there if it does.  Mr. Gilbertson said we had to clarify wording on 
haymeadow as haymeadow can qualify for damage program and used same language in 
incentive depredation section so there is no misunderstanding. He said provision sportsmen 
got to allow definition of a person who puts in for incentive tag and that is to support 
objectives of elk plan and in addition elk to justify elk incentive tags and that allows for a 
landowner who has elk on their property and with mix of private and public and elk are not 
always on their property they can calculate the numbers and adds on 5 to 7 percent. 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

12 
 

Commissioner Raine said he had a question for Mr. Gilbertson as to the definition of native 
hay meadow, and if the definition of native hay meadow is in here. 
 
Mr. Gilbertson said that is part of controversy as native hay meadows really don’t exist as 
most have been enhanced with different grasses to improve productivity over the years. He 
said staff have not identified native hay meadows and closest time came to a problem was 
Geyser Ranch, and had to look at native hay meadow in old days that was a field with one-
half hay and one-half grass, and asked the ranch to not farm it and leave it, as if you irrigate 
or do anything to enhance it, then it is not native and becomes a crop. 
 
Commissioner Raine said he would feel more comfortable if definition existed because 
leaves question if improve, and native elk habitat may have similar definition, and that is a 
question. He said in Section 3 Subsection 2, where it talks about elk living on private land 
range that would be year round, as opposed to seasonally occurring, and understands elk 
mostly seasonally occur, and asked where the formula is defined. 
 
Mr. Gilbertson said NRS and NAC define the calculations. He said there is no where were elk 
live 24/7 on private land. The Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) has reviewed the language 
and definitions provided by LCB to insure that the regulation passes muster in courts.  
 
Commissioner Mori said the language covers the questions posed by Commissioner Raine 
on page 5 has the information on native hay meadow and language added to give flexibility 
and defines that it can be evaluated by the landowner applicant and the Department and 
that if you have something in question you can have NDOW staff come out to determine if 
eligible for damage or incentive program prior to applying.  
 
Public Comment CGR 364 -  
 
Mr. Hank Vogler said he has a ranch and takes him a lot of work and would like continuity 
addressed with these tags as his tags are cut every year and commented that he some of 
the finest grass and it takes him six to nine hours to get a tag with staff, and has cleared 
Pinyon-Juniper and has fenced his property. He said there is no continuity with program and 
is even on the Arbitration Board so he has no recourse to obtain a tag for the work that he 
has done on his land. Mr. Vogler said that is not the programs promise to obtain an 
incentive tag for improvement of habitat for wildlife.  
 
Mr. Gilbertson said Mr. Vogler has been reduced on elk use days and he did qualify for a 
tag. Mr. Gilbertson said when program instituted we tried to make program user friendly 
and if you have .51 they round up and issue a tag. He thought we were being user friendly, 
and Mr. Vogler mentioned 45 “ fence is a little too high and could separate elk from calves 
and have a form that is used to clarify and fence could have negative effect. Normal range 
fence is 42” and that has no impact on elk count and work with Mr. Vogler and don’t expect 
people to count day by day, and give form and if people show 30 to 40 elk hanging around 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

13 
 

in winter and if you see change in numbers that is dramatic to let us know so staff can 
reevaluate the numbers. NDOW has to verify for sportsmen’s side as if that does not 
happen then people may say a deal was cut. This is a cooperative program and get together 
with permittee and some applications are all done via mail, and others are hand on and we 
will meet with them and we have worked out with Mr. Vogler up to now even though use 
went down. His understanding is that PJ was removed by crew camping out which reduced 
elk use and that may have had an effect.  
 
Paul Dixon, Clark CABMW chairman, said the regulation reviewed at their meeting and the 
board was unanimously in support of the regulation as drafted. 
 
Rick Smith, Washoe CABMW, said discussed at their meeting and they agree with changes 
unanimously. 
 
Bill Miller, White Pine CABMW, said he personally attended these workshops as CABMW 
member and did make phone calls to ranchers and one issue was native hay meadows. He 
said in Duck Creek Basin fenced native hay meadow of Gracian Uhalde and at the time 
found out importance of hay meadows. He said we are trying to meet in the middle and 
believes CGR 364 does that and rewards livestock permittees such as Mr. Vogler and the 
one tag he gets does not compensate him for the time he has spent improving the habitat. 
The board unanimously supported CGR 364. 
 
Mr. Boyd Spratling, rancher representing himself, said this has come a long way from what 
it was originally and changing language that rancher can’t advocate higher objective levels 
and that was major sticking point. Mr. Spratling said he supports the change.  
 

5     Commission Policy #1, “General Guidelines for the Commission” First Reading – 
 Commissioner Scott Raine – Informational  
 
A Commissioner Raine said there was a series of committee meeting on this issue and 
 out of those meetings came up with three different things and split two sections out of 
 Commission Policy #1 into new policies, entitled Commission Policies #3 and #4. The 
 policies with changes were in support material, and he explained the changes: Policy #1, 
 the changes purpose is to insure that the Commission offers to formally recognize 
 individuals and entities that provide  any gifts, grants, donations, or bequests to NDOW. 
 He said the intent is make sure the gift goes where the donor intended it to go, and  the 
 other change is to state a minimum  of “two readings” of a policy, of course more 
 readings could be held. The last change was Section 7, “Acceptance of Gifts, Grants, 
 Donations and Bequests.” Commission Policy #3 was to discuss the appeals process and 
 streamline the process, define the CABMWs role in an appeal, and came to the decision 
 that if Commission gets input on appeal from the CABMWs and if CABMWs make 
 decision on an appeal may give grounds to appellant that they have not received due 
 process. Commission Policy #4 is for petitions and to address questions about the 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

14 
 

 petition process. He said this policy lays out the guidelines so they know the process, 
 and there were contentious issues. One was comment that CABMWs will be cut out of 
 the process, but this is about due process and a fair hearing considering all the exhibits, 
 and is unwieldy to include the CABMWs in the process.  The main point of the petition 
 process is to decide whether or not to initiate rule-making. He said a deputy attorney 
 general was present at each meeting,  
 
 DAG Stockton said as he did not attend the meetings he would propose a change to 
 Section 7 of Policy #1, and that the language in the “Purpose” section and Section 7 
 need to be harmonized, as one states “offers recognition” and the other states “will.” 
 On Policy #3 he agrees with everything but written material submitted “after,” as the 
 written material needs to be presented before the hearing, the section is the first 
 sentence after “procedure.”   
 
 Chairman Lent said he would like a sentence added to elect the chair as first order of 
 business so new officers can get in and legally run the meeting and that was the reason 
 he moved up the agenda item today.  
 
 Commissioner Capurro said for example you may have a situation when chair and vice 
 chair are both not reappointed and secretary would have to run the meeting and 
 CABMWs seem in favor of that as they have that as their first order of business too.  
 
 Commissioner McBeath said he would elaborate on DAG Stockton’s comment, and 
 the inconsistency in Policy #1, under “Purpose” and Section 7 – as one is optional and 
 one is mandatory. He said he believes that some people who would make gifts and 
 grants anonymously with not wanting recognition and would hate to see the 
 Commission turn gifts down from a donor who does not want to be recognize and 
 would like that issue reconciled. Commission Policy #4, CABMW and public comment, 
 and struggling with sentence stating input will be taken before public comment, and 
 then the statement that CABMWs will not receive the support material to make a 
 recommendation.  
 
 Commissioner Raine said the committee debated that exact same thing and the 
 resolution was to leave language as this because if there was a provision; however, 
 would you reword it as the Commission has the option.  
  
 Commissioner Cavin said what happens is that the petitioner presents exhibit file that 
 CABMWs may have not gotten and as the CABMWs and the Commission does not have 
 all the information ahead of time, and when there is a live hearing there a lot of 
 information that the board did not have to vote on a petition, and if petition is 
 accepted, then it will go to the CABMWs with the support material. The intent is not to 
 cut the CABMWs but to get the glitches out of the process.   
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

15 
 

 Deputy Director Haskins said the donor’s wished would be respected by the Department 
 and stated that Interim Finance Committee has requirements that the Department must 
 follow for accepting gifts.  

 
 Public Comment Policies – 
 
 Rick Smith, Washoe CABMW, said he would request that the Commission not take 
 action on this tomorrow as the votes on his board were close and with the comments 
 on election of  officers, he would like to have input on the changes being wordsmithed 
 today. He asked that the Commission add to the policy whether or not public comment 
 will be taken on action items and they had same discussion on word “will” being 
 mandatory even if donor wished to remain anonymous. He said from their CABMW 
 meeting they would recommend approval instead of denial. On Policy #3 they voted to 
 approve and would complement the committee on their work on this policy. For Policy 
 #4 they voted to oppose as they had heartburn with scratching “special regulations”  
 that CABMWs have input on, as for example scopes on muzzleloaders could be a 
 “special regulation.” He asked that Policy #1 be brought back because of adding the 
 language for elections and provide explanation of language changes and not fair to the 
 CABMWs.  
 
 DAG Nguyen clarified that word “special” could be taken out as “regulation” in NRS and 
 that would make it consistent with statute. 
 
 Mr. Smith said the CABMWs did not know that and would ask that the Commission bring 
 that back so the CABMWs could further comment with the explanations.  
 
 Gil Yanuck Carson CABMW, said in Policy #1 under “Purpose” there was removal of 
 CABMW budgets, and asked where CABMW budgets will be done.  
 
 Commissioner Cavin said staff recommended that the Finance Committee is working on 
 revamping how the budgets are done. 
  
 Mr. Yanuck said the Finance Committee’s recent review of CABMW budgets consisted of 
 checking the numbers and facts, and the review by the Commission takes substantial 
 time process and by having the Finance Committee do this would save time. The other 
 recommendation in regard to the Commission election is to do what was done when 
 that happened in Eureka and is to have the Commission secretary open and run the 
 meeting until the election. Mr. Yanuck said on Policy #1 there is also the term 
 “guidance” and asked for the definition in that case. Policy #4 understands that “special 
 regulations” will just be called “regulation.” 
  
 Commissioner Raine said the section was stricken as it was vague and was not working 
 anyway and recommends that it be stricken and come up with Plan B.  



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

16 
 

 DAG Stockton said he cannot state the definition and the word came right out of  statute 
 as he has to figure out the legislature’s intent.  
  
 Secretary Mayer said Randy Stevens of Legislative Counsel Bureau discussed the word 
 “guidance” with him as the Department had the same question and he was told by Mr. 
 Stevens that he wrote the language in the bill and intent was restatement of what is 
 currently in law and that he would be happy to write a letter to the Commission stating 
 that intent and assumed there would be a question.  
 
 Deputy Director Haskins said “special” regulation is term used to explain to public that it 
 is different than a statewide regulation and is used to draw attention to regulation and 
 no legal meaning that he is aware of for “special regulation.” 
 

Paul Dixon, Clark CABMW, said in regard to Policy #1 that Clark CABMW will withdraw 
objections to changes in paragraph 1 of Policy #1 after discussion with Commissioner 
Wallace. He said in regard to Policy #1, they have recommendation that after chair 
approves agenda four weeks in advance, that after that draft agenda is approved that 
the draft be sent to the CABMWs so that CABMWs who meet earlier can have those 
items on their agenda even if items are added or reshuffled. He said the 
recommendation that the draft agenda be sent four weeks out, he would like that put in 
the record.  
 
Staff said that the draft has been late being sent to the CABMWs. 
 
Chairman Lent said staff tries their best to get the draft and final agenda out as soon as 
they can and the CABMWs need to be aware the draft is subject to change which can 
happen.  
 
Secretary Mayer said staff has been affected by extra subcommittee meetings that have 
been held this year and is looking for a part-time person to assist the recording 
secretary and the process is a meat grinder as we need items as soon as this meeting 
concludes.  
 
Mr. Dixon continued his comments, and said for Policy #3 that one question they had 
was “qusai-judicial” and has a lawyer on his board who stated probably not “qusai-
judicial, ” and are there other governing policies.  
 
DAG Stockton said a fourth area has been created as a legal term with the board. DAG 
Stockton said policies are guidelines with no force of law, and are just the board’s 
statement on how it wants to conduct business, regulations take precedence over 
policies, and statutes have precedence over regulations.  

 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

17 
 

 Mr. Dixon said to Policy #4 they would ask that the Commission table the hearing if new 
 information presented so that the new information could be digested by the 
 Commission and CABMWs if substantial. 
  
 Commissioner Raine said the approval and denial of a petition is to screen and if the 
 Commission screens wrong he would expect the CABMW to come back as a petitioner. 
  
 Commissioner Capurro said on Policy #1 the language suggested to be put in for election 
 of officers, and historically is held as first order of business. He said CABMW minutes 
 have the election officers as first order of business.   
 

Commissioner McBeath said issue he sees is that language brought up today has not 
gone out to CABMWs and would be excellent subject for a policy change, and is an 
addition that should be sent back to the CABMWs.  
 
Commissioner Capurro said to Commissioner McBeath that the facts are that the 
agenda is going out to CABMWs and whether first or last item will allow CABMWs to 
give their input and recommendations.  

 
 Commissioner Raine said he would reiterate that this has been past practice and never 
 has seen public comment on the election and never has been any on this commission 
 and that is the way it has been, and if election item last could be usurpation of power 
 and needs to be the first item of business.  
 
 Bob Brunner, said we need to remember rules of Commission were changed to get this 
 done and would ask that public comment be put in there before and certain amount of 
 written public  comment. We could have done what CABMWs and public asked and still 
 move forward on wildlife issues, and let’s move forward as a Commissioner you are 
 responsible for your own votes as a Commissioner. Let’s not waste money on things 
 already talked about.  
 
 Jim Jenne, Lyon CABMW, said they had questions on all of this and this has been 
 rejected at a previous meeting and  voiced opinion to drop it. He agreed 
 wholeheartedly with sending Policy 1 back and have it done over, and agreed with 
 setting election as first order of business. When 80 percent of CABMW’s do send in 
 recommendation and comment and would like the  Commission to acknowledge the 
 comments of the public CABMWs as nothing was remarked on or acknowledged. As far 
 as the rest of the policies their comments have already been covered and would like to 
 see CABMW member on some of the Commission committee and maybe things will 
 work smoother.  
 

Gil Yanuck, Carson CABMW, said he agreed with Mr. Jenne on having CABMW members 
on all the committees, but a practical point is that CABMW members could be on 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

18 
 

committee but expensive to move people around the state to attend the various 
meetings. When you have CABMW members on the board there has to be payments 
and as a member of the Finance Committee they met via telephone so no travel costs 
incurred. 
 
Rick Smith, Washoe CABMW, said it does not have to be expensive, and if you look at 
subcommittees and plan appropriately having a CABMW member on a committee could 
work.  
 

6 Muzzleloader Visual Disability Modifications Workshop – Deputy Director Rich Haskins - 
 Informational Workshop 
 

Deputy Director Haskins said he is handling this item as Management Analyst III Jolly is 
on leave, and that we have had workshops to define the issue. He reviewed the options 
for muzzleloaders as contained in support material and said action is required under a 
mandate by U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), and to satisfy the request the 
Commission could allow a 1x scope with no magnification which would help some 
persons with a vision disability. He also reviewed what other states have done in regard 
to accommodating the USFWS request as denoted on the support material contained in 
the exhibit file.  
 
Chairman Lent asked that the Commission receive a copy of the initial request from the 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and also he wonders where the muzzleloader interest 
representatives are and won’t make a decision opposing them, and other comments 
have been that you can use a scope in the regular muzzleloader season. He said the man 
(Toby Bridges) who is bringing this forth criticized the Commission and would like his 
letters in the record and wants to hear from the muzzleloader groups before action is 
taken.  
 
Director Mayer said Mr. Bridges is known to all the directors in the country and is a 
proponent of scopes on muzzleloaders across the board and was rejected by the 
Service; however, the solicitors office ruled that accommodations are necessary under 
ADA for visual impairments and because federal funds are tied to abiding by federal law 
and the threat of losing funding is the hammer being used to get this done.  
 
Commissioner Capurro said he is not sure if ADA takes into account that these are 
persons carrying a rifle and inline guns fire two bullets, and if they want a scope they 
could hunt in the any legal weapon hunt. 
 
Commissioner McBeath said did Colorado indicate the administrative cost and, if so, was 
the cost minimal. 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

19 
 

Deputy Director Haskins said he understands that the costs were minimal and the 
hunters with qualifying disabilities had to have a doctor sign an affidavit and some 
states have the director review the forms on a case by case basis.  
 
Commissioner Cavin said he would like to see what Colorado has done as far as medical 
requirement as they appear to be in compliance, and have a little red tape that their 
department deals with and if we look at their requirements and guidance as to what 
that means, that would clarify that option for him. 

   
 Deputy Director Haskins said he has a copy of Colorado’s accommodation application 
which applies to multiple disabilities and we could pull together what other states have 
done and present that.  
 
Chairman Lent said for the Department to notify muzzleloader groups and the CABMWs 
for their opinions and suggestions, as we owe it to them to get their opinion, and if 
muzzleloaders get to close to the capability of a rifle many not have this problem in the 
future. He reiterated that he would like a copy of the letter from U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service. 
  
Commissioner McBeath said he would add that the Colorado regulations and process be 
included in the support material sent to the Commission as it appeared everyone zeroed 
in on the most restrictive option. 
 
Commissioner Raine said safety in the field is number one concern, and does not want 
NDOW to be the “eye police” and would like universal policy for everybody with list of 
every option.  
 
Commissioner Wallace asked if the form has anywhere on it for the doctor to denote 
that the person should not carry a firearm.  
 
Director Mayer said that could be done, and that Colorado has a good model as there is 
also liability for the doctor if the person hurts someone, and their system works. 
 
DAG Stockton said today procedurally the Department is asking for permission to draft 
language to bring back for the CABMWs and the muzzleloader groups. 
 
Deputy Director Haskins said he is taking notes for the next meeting.  
  
Commissioner Cavin said his input is that he prefers pursuing option #2 and get further 
background information from Colorado and other states that we talked about and 
represent and personally likes the narrow focus and would only involve the 
muzzleloader groups if options #7 and #8 were the preference, and the goal would be to 
satisfy the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.   



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

20 
 

Paul Dixon, Clark CABMW said, this is a small amount of people who will qualify and that 
we have already spent more time on this then will be spent reviewing the permits and is 
time to get something in writing for a draft regulation. 
 
Rick Smith, Washoe CABMW, said being devils’ advocate are we going to have laser 
sights on bows and what is next as far the next group who says they are being 
discriminated against.  
 
Bill Miller, White Pine CABMW, said fourth time muzzleloader scopes issue has surfaced 
in 18 years and he asked muzzleloader hunters what they felt about this issue and what 
he got is that hunting is a right not a privilege and we are not taking anyone’s rights 
away. If you allow scopes you are discriminating against the rest, and White Pine 
CABMW is against this, as are many muzzleloader hunters. 

 
 DAG Stockton said he is not an expert on ADA explained ADA law and said that the 
 government has to provide the reasonable accommodation for a qualifying disability.  
 
 Jim Jenne, Lyon CABMW, said they went with no action, as they feel any legal weapon 
 hunt takes care of them and is not discriminatory, if doctor’s note they need more than 
 a one power scope.  He said their question as a game board was if we take no action and 
 use the legal weapon hunt to accommodate them, are we in violation, and has that 
 been pointed out to USFWS. If not, their direction to the Commission is to pick the one 
 power scope.  
 
7  Potential Conversion of the Wine Cup Ranch to a Wild Horse Refuge – Ken Wellington, 

 Elko CABMW - Action 
 
 Ken Wellington, Elko CABMW, said they heard rumors that possibly a woman, Ms. 
 Pickens, was going to purchase the Winecup Gambel Ranch for a wild horse refuge, and 
 he followed up on the rumor with a Bureau of Land Management (BLM) employee who 
 advised him that HR 1018 would not allow the conversion; however, if HR 1018 is 
 passed that could open up that option. He said he brought a letter that was received 
 today from Attorney David M. Stanton (exhibit file) representing the Winecup Gambel 
 Ranch stating no negotiations underway on the purchase of the ranch by Madeline 
 Pickens or any persons in her control at this time. They have since heard that Ms. 
 Pickens is stepping out of the picture now, and the ranch owner is looking at doing 
 this project on his own as there is money in it and this ranch receives 13 landowner 
 incentive tags. He introduced rancher and former Wildlife Commissioner Boyd Spratling.  
 

Dr. Boyd Spratling said he is on the Wild Horse Board which challenged nonprofit groups 
who complain not enough being done to save the wild horse and they were urged to 
buy ranches or tracts of land to use as a wild horse refuge which has been perverted to 
the situation we are in now were people want to make big dollars of the horses. Ms. 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

21 
 

Pickens is out of the Winecup-Gambel and is a neighbor to the ranch and know those 
horses will spill out on private land and public land. He says there is a huge appetite for 
this to happen as BLM is desperate at national level to get relief from long-term holding 
of horses and gathers. No money being spent to gather horses over appropriate 
management level (AML) and the only horses being gathered will only be for emergency 
gathers and will have increased numbers of horses. He said there is lots of momentum 
when you have someone like Madeline Pickens come in and want to be a hero to the 
horses and that is what we are seeing. He believes the Pickens are interested in other 
ranches in Elko County and the Winecup owners are interested in the sanctuary on their 
own. If the sanctuary were to work you would need to transfer ownership of the horses 
to the ranch but if that is done BLM can’t pay them $500 per year to run horses on 
public lands, and to leave them in public ownership they would like to get around 
grazing statutes. Mr. Spratling said NDOW has important role in input to play in public 
lands on converting cattle AUMs to horse AUMs, and important dynamic. He said the 
Department needs to continue its role in commenting. 
 

 Commissioner Raine asked Mr. Spratling what he wants the Commission to say and he is 
 with them if they draft a letter.  
 
 Dr. Spratling said the ranchers, livestock industry, and sportsmen would agree 
 wholeheartedly on the potential resource damage this many horses would cause, 
 and he reiterated NDOW should do what they do and is comment and on the plans and 
 they would cooperate with any groups who want to get language into a letter to Mr. 
 Abbey of BLM.  
 
 Ken Wellington said he could get together with Mr. Spratling, and someone from the 
 Department and work on language for a letter.  
 
 Chairman Lent said he would recommend that Vice Chairman Raine assist with working 
 with them on drafting the letter. 
 
 Commissioner McBeath asked if something in HR 1018 that has changed to allow this for 
 the Winecup Ranch and the Department would weigh in on the process if AUMs 
 changed. He disclosed that his ranch was involved in a lawsuit with Western Watersheds 
 which has been jointly dismissed in White Pine County and BLM agreed to withdraw 
 permits issued and are issuing temporary and not use categorical exclusions anymore 
 which will force decisions into the Environmental Assessment process.   

 
Dr. Spratling said Ms. Pickens had some influence with the wording and the term 
sanctuary, and that NDOW can comment.  
 
Public Comment -  



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

22 
 

Dan Gralian, said he is current president of the Nevada Cattleman’s Association and 
would echo some of what Dr. Spratling said, and would urge caution and to think this 
through because this won’t be one particular instance with one person as this will keep 
coming back and have an opportunity here to address it, and believes NDOW and 
sportsmen have a lot of say on what goes on public lands as they should, and double 
edge sword, when Wild Horse and Burro Act passed in 1971 there were 17,000 horses. 
He estimates that there are 43,000 wild horses on rangeland and 31,00 in holding 
facilities, and that is 70,000 wild horses for the BLM to manage with little funding. He 
said we need to think this through and we do need to get these wild horses into a 
controlled managed environment and just opposing something is not good enough. 
Nevada Cattleman’s Association would be happy to work with the Commission to draft a 
letter and work on real tangible solutions. 
 
Mel Belding, Washoe County, said he is on stewardship board for Washoe and  Modoc 
Counties and they are working on allotment to convert from sheep to cattle and  this 
conversion would require NEPA process and asked when this allotment was last 
reviewed by BLM, and said no one knew, and said there have been yearly extensions 
and when NEPA process starts may be the time to comment. 

 
Paul Dixon, Clark CABMW, said he applauds writing a letter, although last letter written 
two of Nevada’s congressional delegation voted for it. He said we need to educate 
congressional staff on importance of issue to Nevada and the last letter had no impact, 
and letter needs to state that Clark CABMW and public feel that wild horses need to be 
managed as are other animals. He said we need to use county commissions and 
whatever political strength we have as we have senior senator in the senate.  
 
Jim Jenne, Lyon CABMW, said Willis Lamm wrote letter that was submitted in support 
material and consider this a pressing issue to watch real close and their suggestion is to 
educate our senators on this and could have done something prior to this and is a bad 
situation.  
 
Ellie Bare, Elko County, said she just came from a recent Washington, D.C. trip with 
American Quarter Horse Association to educate Nevada’s Congressional delegation on 
wild horse issue and she learned today that the Senate has enough votes to pass HR 
1018 and said we need to put additional pressure on Senator Reid as the bill will be back 
next year. Slaughter houses have closed back east and now costs $2,000 to put a horse 
down and hopes we get right wording on the letter to impart the importance of this 
matter. She noted that when you are in DC they will tell you something but you need to 
track the bills, and noted that Congresswomen Berkley and Titus voted for HR 1018, and 
they are just very uneducated on the issues. 
 
 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

23 
 

Director Mayer said after the vote at the last meeting, the Department also sent a letter, 
and agreed we need to keep up the pressure even though Senator Reid is against it.  
 
Commissioner Capurro said he understands that Senator Ensign is in favor and will be a 
bad situation when the vote on the floor occurs. He said the Commission should write a 
letter to the two Senators. 
 
Director Mayer said as soon as possible staff will get a letter drafted with Nevada 
Cattleman’s Association, Dr. Spratling, and get the draft back to the Commission. 
 
Chairman Lent asked that it be done as soon as possible.  
 

8  Reports – Informational  
 
A  Litigation – DAG Nhu Nguyen - 
 
 DAG Nguyen said she had nothing further to add to the report.  
 
B Western Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies – Director Mayer and Commissioner 
 Cavin  
 

Director Mayer explained the Department and Commission’s participation for the new 
Commissioners, and noted that the mid-winter conference in January will be in San 
Diego.  

 
Commissioner Cavin added that the biggest focus was energy and water, and Nevada is 
as challenged as the other states, especially with the gas pipeline. Commissioner Cavin 
said on the Commission side each state reports and he brought each Commissioner a 
board and commission workbook and would hope that down the road we could have 
the USFWS Management Assistance Team (MAT) get to Nevada. He brought a copy of 
the MAT Team’s Commission Guidebook and a book will be provided for each 
Commissioner and a customized version is being worked on by staff as a resource for 
the Commission and the Commission could come up with a training session for team 
building or a Commissioner retreat. He said the state’s reports were interesting with 
updates on archery in the schools program, the lead issue, and a lot of other things that 
go on, and that this Commission does need to have more Commission participation and 
knows that is a financial issue and a commitment issues as well as the conference is 
lengthy.  

 
 Chairman Lent said he is going to move the following reports to Saturday, Agenda Item 
 (8 C) Department Activities/Leadership Team Notes and (8 D) Heritage Committee, to 
 allow Mr. Sefton to present the application hunt report. 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

24 
 

E Application Hunt 2009 Draw Report – Don Sefton and Monty Martin, Systems 
 Consultants 
 
 Mr. Sefton introduced himself to the new Commissioners and said that he is the owner 
 of Systems Consultants and that he has had a contract with the Department of Wildlife 
 for the  past 16 or 17 years or so to conduct the application hunt draw process and for 
 the last seven years to conduct boat registrations over the website. He introduced 
 Monty Martin who is  dedicated to the oversight of the Department of Wildlife work, 
 and who will make the power point presentation today as included in the support 
 material (exhibit file).  
  
F 48 Hour Draw Release Update – Don Sefton, Systems Consultants 
  
 Mr. Sefton said the Commission deserves credit for the idea of the 48 hour draw 
 release, and his company was able to implement the early release. He said there was a 
 flood of phone calls on the day of the draw, and many calls after the draw to get more 
 information but could not answer many of the questions as they were printing tags and 
 doing other processes. The cost to the sportsmen was $14,000 for the one time 
 programming cost and was probably 15 cents per application and everyone seemed 
 happy and that it worked. Mr. Sefton said there were experiences learned from this trial 
 such as we could not have the draw on a Thursday or a Friday due to the 48 hours and 
 was very successful.  
 

Meeting Adjourned at 7:10 p.m. 
 
Saturday, August 15, 2009 – 8:30 a.m. 
 
Chairman Lent called the meeting to order at 8:33 a.m. and noted that the two informational 
reports not heard yesterday will be heard at the end of today’s meeting. Chairman Lent 
welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
 
Roll call of Commissioners Present: Chairman Lent, Vice Chairman Raine, Commissioners 
Capurro, Cavin, Howell, Kobrin, McBeath, Mori, and Wallace. 
 
Roll call of CABMW Members Present: Ken Wellington, Elko; Paul Dixon, Clark; Jim Jenne, Lyon; 
Rick Smith, Washoe; Bill Meyer, Lyon; and Craig Burnside, Douglas CABMW.   
 
Member Items/Announcements – 
 
Commissioner Raine said at the last Commission meeting he requested a list of all the trips the 
Director and staff had taken in and out of the states and list of all non-NDOW professional titles 
held by staff and expects that information to be forthcoming. He said he is requesting this 
information as he has heard of the budgetary constraints the state faces across the state and 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

25 
 

wanted to clarify where NDOW is in this with state travel and this fall s under budget oversight 
of the Commission and that should be our authority.  
 
DAG Nguyen said the Department will need some time to compile the information.  
 
Commissioner Wallace said during yesterday’s report on status of the draw we heard that 
military personnel returned their tags and does not know if Commission can do anything and 
wonders if there could be something done to give the tag back.  
 
Chief of Operations Bob Haughian said that mechanism exists for military personnel to hunt on 
their tag when they return with a deferment up to two years and only applies to deployed 
military.  
 
Chairman Lent thanked Kelly Clark for the CD copies of Mr. Bodenchuk’s presentation from the 
Lovelock Commission meeting. The other item is the upland game stamp presentation at the 
June meeting and his question to Chief of Habitat Dave Pulliam at the last meeting where he 
questioned him in regard to taking staff salary out of upland game stamp funds, and Mr. 
Pulliam’s statement that intent of bill was to use the funds for salary. He said he did extensive 
research of Legislative committee minutes from 2003 and could not find the interpretation that 
Mr. Pulliam referenced. Chairman Lent said his question to Mr. Pulliam, which he is asking as 
that his the duty of the Commission, is for Director Mayer to find support for that statement 
because the intent was not there when he researched the record and would like that 
information brought back to the Commission. 
 
Director Mayer said you have to recognize that when we have someone specifically working on 
upland game or specific projects the salary does come from that pot of money. He said we have 
to have people to implement projects.   
 
CABMW Members –  
 
Ken Wellington, Elko CABMW chair, thanked the Heritage Committee for the work they did on 
allocation of the tags and explaining how vendors were selected. 
 
Gil Yanuck, Carson CABMW, said he spoke to NDOW Program Officer III Maureen Hullinger and 
she told him that in the future the groups who are awarded Heritage tags will be profiled on the 
website and the public will be able to see who brings in the money. 
 
Public Comment –  
 
Cecil Fredi, Hunter’s Alert, said there are areas of priority: Lawsuit filed by Western Watersheds 
due to sage grouse habitat may cause hunters to lose 25 million acres; wolves are here in Elko 
with six sightings in Elko as heard by him at barbecue; Nevada sportsmen have lost 60 percent 
of our deer and the millions in revenue that go that; the federal government is overpowering 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

26 
 

ranchers, sportsmen and fish and game agencies; and have lost millions of acres to wilderness 
and loss of land is loss of hunting opportunity. He said there are many serious issues affecting 
Nevada hunters, and he would like to see the energy used yesterday in opposing the election of 
the chairman channeled into those types of issues. 
 
Mike Laughlin, said he is representing himself, welcomed three new Commission and said not 
an easy road for them to travel and looks forward to working with them. He said he will bring 
something up close to his heart and that Animal Damage Control (ADC) as he is retired from 
that federal agency after 31 years, and believes that ADC is getting short stick in Nevada. He 
said NDOW missing great opportunity by not working with these people and that Mark Jensen 
and his crew should be applauded. He said this is an opportunity to put the two agencies 
together and share information. He really thinks that we should share this resource, and the 
“we against them” attitude is not working and meanwhile the deer are going down the tubes. 
The deer are gone, they have disappeared and he lives on west slope of Ruby Mountains and 
sees the same three deer every day, and would like to see someone put this together because it 
is nonsense that you don’t know anything unless you have a wildlife biology degree. 
 
Cliff Gardner, Ruby Valley, said he is here to put in a word for the sheep industry and is in 
support of Hank Vogler’s comments made yesterday. He said not many sheep men with us and 
from what he sees on the ground the best deer production habitat is where the sheep have 
grazed. Deer will move in while sheep are out. He said the use of short duration grazing and the 
habitat would freshen up after they moved off so that the sagebrush did not become decadent.   
 
 9 Wildlife Damage Management Committee – Commissioner Scott Raine – Action  
 
 Commissioner Raine said the committee has met and he asked that the changes to the 
 plan be reviewed, and asked if language for project boundaries for wildlife damage 
 management  projects and damage personnel to operate in adjacent areas to the 
 specific project were included. He said that language would give the Wildlife Services
 the flexibility to pursue animals if they are causing the problem and did not see that in 
 the final draft.   

 
Mr. Lansford said he did not bring copies of the plan and was prepared to answer 
questions.  
 
Commissioner McBeath noted that the one issue with the duplication of administrative 
fees has been corrected.  
Kevin Lansford said he no longer runs the program in the eastern portion of the state 
but he is aware that they are not compromised by boundaries, and the topic 
Commissioner Raine may be referring to is Project 18 and expanding the project as they 
know where the lions are going.  
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

27 
 

Commissioner Raine said that they thought were affecting that area and access to 
operate on both sides as animals are crossing over and thought that language would be 
in the final draft.  
 
Kevin Lansford said the flexibility can be put in and also had the discussion at the 
Bodenchuk presentation and we could give them a free rein to take lions anywhere in 
the state, but if you are targeting a specific deer herd there are boundaries you will 
circle on a map.  
 
Commissioner Raine said the wording is “adjacent” not statewide and would like that in 
print.  
 
Commissioner McBeath asked how the relationship works between Wildlife Services 
and NDOW because that might be the place where the language that Commissioner 
Raine is referring to should show up.  
 
Kevin Lansford said the mechanism is a contract between NDOW and Wildlife Services 
with the amount of money, number of years, and services provided and is spelled out in 
the plan.  
 
Commissioner McBeath said he agrees with Commissioner Raine and that he would feel 
comfortable if the language is written in the event that Wildlife Service’s goes beyond 
the boundary so no one accuses Wildlife Services or NDOW of going beyond their 
authority.  
 
Chairman Lent said he asked some questions at that meeting for matching federal 
funds, and was told by Mr. Atkinson that it takes two to three years to get federal 
match. He asked if anything started to get match and that Mr. Lansford said the $25,000 
would be got within one year, and would recommend trying to get it for something 
besides monitoring. Chairman Lent said he would like to see match for other projects  
 
Kevin Lansford said a project was designated in Area 16 for $25,000 with intense 
monitoring from Dr. Conover from Utah State University. 
 
Director Mayer said the only way to get match is to use the funds in conjunction with 
study, with monitoring and predator control as part of the study. 
 
Chairman Lent said the communication system for this telephonic committee meeting 
was horrible and would like the committee staff to be aware of that and to obtain 
equipment that works for the next meeting.  
 
Director Mayer said the Reno office has the best technical equipment which we don’t 
have in Elko.  



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

28 
 

 
Commissioner Raine said for technical expertise may want to try a contact in his county 
as they have many telephonic meetings in Eureka and they are nearly perfect and the 
equipment cost is reasonable.  
 
Gil Yanuck, Carson CABMW, said they have used teleconference capabilities of colleges 
to hook into different sites. State has system between the universities and may be look 
at UNR and setting up for joint teleconferences. 
 
Commissioner Capurro said he would suggest video conferencing as that is about 
$50,000 which is a high cost but worth it as you don’t have to have travel costs. 
 
Paul Dixon, Clark CABMW, said complimented staff for the effort despite the technical 
difficulties. Mr. Dixon said his question is that when we talked about going over 
boundaries and chase predators how does that apply to state boundaries of California 
and other states.  
 
Commissioner Raine said they know the boundaries and have their own internal policies 
to guide them and if our rule says we have no problem they still have to follow other 
agency rules. 
 
DAG Stockton answered that Wildlife Services is staffed by federal employees and they 
would be responsible and we have no control over them  
 
Rick Smith said representing himself, that on page 29 that the statement that Mike 
Conover of Utah State would be contacting hunters in the field with proposed survey 
techniques was not acceptable to him and some other hunters that he talked to and 
they will not participate.  
 
Mr. Lansford said it is basically a research person and if his technique is too intrusive 
that could be looked at and the deer portion is not in there and probably not needed 
now as intended to help with second part of study that was not financed.  
 
COMMISSIONER RAINE SAID HE WOULD MOVE TO APPROVE THE FISCAL YEAR 2010 
PREDATION MANAGEMENT PLAN FOLLOWING THE ADDITION TO INSERT INTO IT AT 
THE BEGINNING JUST BEHIND THE SUMMARY OF THE PLAN THE FOLLOWING 
WORDING: ALL INTRASTATE BOUNDARIES FOR WILDLIFE DAMAGE MANAGEMENT 
PROJECTS ARE TO BE TAKEN AS FLEXIBLE BOUNDARIES AND ANY DAMAGE CONTROL 
PERSONNEL MAY OPERATE IN ADJACENT AREAS, IF IN THEIR PROFESSIONAL OPINION 
THE ANIMALS ARE DETERMINED TO BE CAUSING DAMAGE IN THE TARGET PROJECT 
AREAS AND ARE LOCATED IN SUCH AN ADJACENT AREA. COMMISSIONER MCBEATH 
SECONDED THE MOTION.  
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

29 
 

Commissioner Cavin asked if we want to remove language that Mr. Lansford said was 
unnecessary. 
 
Mr. Lansford said he has the authority that he can strike the section on page 29 last 
paragraph referencing body condition/ungulate surveys.  
 
COMMISSIONER RAINE AND MCBEATH ACCEPTED THAT AS AN AMENDMENT TO THE 
MOTION. COMMISSIONERS IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION: RAINE, CAPURRO, CAVIN, 
HOWELL, KOBRIN, MCBEATH, MORI AND WALLACE. MOTION CARRIED 8 ς 0. 

 
VOTE ON MOTION: COMMISSIONER RAINE AND MCBEATH ACCEPTED THAT AS AN 
AMENDMENT TO THE MOTION. COMMISSIONERS IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION: RAINE, 
CAPURRO, CAVIN, HOWELL, KOBRIN, MCBEATH, MORI AND WALLACE. MOTION 
CARRIED 8 ς 0. 

 
10 Online Hunt Application Changes/Amendments after Application Submission – Chief of 
 Operations – Bob Haughian – Action 

 
Chief of Operations Bob Haughian said this has been on previous agendas and Chairman 
Lent requested that that we look at as many options as we could. Staff summarized the 
options and a handout was provided to the Commission as contained in support 
material. Mr. Haughian said six counties supported Option 1 with no counties 
supporting Option #2, and that staff are recommending option #6. 
 
Chairman Lent said the original intent was not to make money for the Department and 
the main purpose was for clients who made a mistake while applying for tags, and to 
make the system user friendly. When we have questionnaire not filled out the hunter 
pays admin fee to be reinstated, maybe later an admin fee could be added through the 
Legislature to compensate the Department for handling. He said we don’t think we 
should reward someone and give them a bonus point and would hate to see this go past 
the deadline and he prefers Option #1.  
 
Mr. Sefton, Systems Consultants, said Utah does this using Option #6 and started with 
extending the bonus point application period. He said Utah threw sportsmen a bone of 
allowing the hunters to apply for a bonus point after the deadline and eliminated 
bottleneck at the deadline. He said they had customer service problems in the early 
years and the key to resolving the disputes was to provide options.  He said his company 
will be able to program any option that the Commission chooses.  
 
Director Mayer asked if Utah requires them to buy a license to obtain the bonus point. 
 
Mr. Sefton said yes they do, and majority is folks who made a mistake.  
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

30 
 

Commissioner McBeath gave examples of other states. He said he likes revenue aspect 
and commented that he lost elk bonus points and did not apply one year as rejection 
notice was misplaced and next year did not apply and ultimately lost elk bonus points.  
 
Commissioner Wallace said been on both sides by missing deadline and putting wrong 
information, because if you are being careful you should check before submitting, and 
he prefers Option #6 because it helps entire gamut of people. He said he can see it both 
ways. 
 
Commissioner Capurro said eliminate deadline for bonus points could be substantial loss 
of revenue and that bonus points are a privilege. 
 
Commissioner Raine said this is a customer service issue and need to treat customer in 
the best possible way as the majority are nonresidents, and that he does not like Option 
#6 but is the most customer friendly.  
 
Commissioner Cavin said with the tag going to another hunter when application is 
withdrawn makes another person happy and he likes most user friendly option.  
 
Public Comment –  
 
Gil Yanuck, Carson CABMW, said he agreed with Chairman Lent that extending this one 
week provides a limit, and understands Commissioner Raine’s comment on being 
customer friendly and to give somebody an option is not shutting the door in their face 
and can do one of several things without giving them an advantage that no one else has.  
 
Ken Wellington, Elko CABMW, said they supported Option #1 for same reasons that Mr. 
Yanuck stated and they understand being customer friendly and would like it customer 
fair. 
 
Paul Dixon, Clark CABMW, said Option #6 was favored and were concerned about draw 
results and caveat was that was the preference unless it impacted results. 
 
Craig Burnside, Douglas CABMW, said preferred option ___ and gives preference to folks 
who submit online rather than paper.  
 
Mr. Sefton said Utah is mandatory online so not an issue for them.  
 
Rick Smith, Washoe CABMW, said he appreciates the Commission’s concern for military 
personnel as his son has served in Iraq. He is glad that we are looking at something 
customer friendly for clients who make a mistake as we all make them and similar to 
options that are given to lapsed car registrations or driver’s license. Their 
recommendation was for Option #6 to give the most possible options. 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

31 
 

 
Chairman Lent said he agreed with Mr. Smith as that is the most user friendly option. 
 
Commissioner Kobrin said anything we can do to promote customer service and 
promote the sport, and he is in favor of option #6. 
 
COMMISSIONER CAPURRO MOVED THAT WE ADOPT OPTION #1 BASED ON 
TESTIMONY. COMMISSIONER HOWELL SECONDED THE MOTION. COMMISSIONERS IN 
FAVOR OF THE MOTION: CAPURRO, HOWELL, AND LENT. COMMISSIONERS OPPOSED: 
MORI, CAVIN, WALLACE, RAINE, MCBEATH, AND KOBRIN. MOTION FAILED 3 - 6.  
 
COMMISSIONER WALLACE MOVED TO ACCEPT OPTION #6. COMMISSIONER MCBEATH 
SECONDED THE MOTION. MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 9 ς 0. 
 

 11 Bitterbrush and Wildfire – Cliff Gardner – Informational 
 

Elko Rancher Cliff Gardner made a presentation using historical information that he has 
collected as the leading authority on grazing impacts (video presentation viewable at 
ndow.org). Mr. Gardner thanked the Commission for allowing him to make his 
presentation.  

 
12 Commission Regulation 07 – 07 Amendment #4 – Game Division Staff Biologist Kevin 

Lansford - Action 
 

Mr. Lansford said the corrections in the regulation are at the request of the Nevada 
Trapping Association with the elimination of the Ely fur sale dates as that sale has been 
cancelled. 
 
COMMISSIONER RAINE MOVED TO APPROVE BOBCAT SEALING DATES AS PRESENTED 
WITH THE AMENDMENTS. COMMISSIONER WALLACE SECONDED THE MOTION. 
COMMISSIONERS IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION: RAINE, CAPURRO, CAVIN, HOWELL, 
KOBRIN, MCBEATH, MORI AND WALLACE. MOTION CARRIED 8 ς 0. 
 

13  Commission Regulation 09 – 08 – Game Division Staff Biologist Craig Mortimore – Action 
 
Mr. Mortimore said preliminary waterfowl season recommendations were sent with the 
support material two weeks prior to this meeting and subsequent to that mailing the 
four flyway councils met and the new recommendations published in the Federal 
Register have been compiled in the handout provided to the Commission today. Mr. 
Mortimore said NDOW has held a waterfowl summit for the last five years in southern 
and northern Nevada and the purpose is to gather and present information to user 
groups and the meeting usually is five hours or more with the intent not to detract from 
the CABMW process but to provide a venue to explain and craft the draft regulation that 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

32 
 

the Commission has before them. Mr. Mortimore said the meeting was well attended by 
the public and there were a handful of changes to the draft regulation which he 
presented the Commission. He reviewed the waterfowl season dates: 
 
Special Youth Waterfowl Hunt  
 
Mr. Mortimore said recommendations for Northern Zone are October 3, 2009, and 
Southern Zone – Feb. 13 and 14, 2010. 
 
Chairman Lent asked why the north does not have two days as does the Southern Zone. 
 
Mr. Mortimore said northern waterfowl hunters have opposed two days.  
Commissioner McBeath said the north has 107 days and the Southern Zone takes their 
two days. 
 
Ducks and Mergansers  
 
Mr. Mortimore said for the Northern Zone the dates are Oct. 17 through Jan. 30 and 
differs from Commission material sent earlier as a result of the Summit. For the 
Southern Zone except for the Moapa Valley portion of the Overton WMA it is exact 
same opening date of Oct. 17, and due to two days allocated to the youth, the season 
closes on Jan. 29, and after gathering input from Southern Nevada sportsmen, the 
Moapa Valley portion of Overton WMA is recommended to open two weeks later on 
Oct. 31 and conclude on Jan. 29, 2010, and is a voluntary recommendation from the 
group (split decision) to cut off the first two weeks of duck hunt which translates to 
seven hunt days as the WMA is only open every other day in duck season, that is only 
for the Moapa portion of Overton and other portions of Overton remain open Oct. 17 
through Jan. 29.  He noted that the pintail limit has been increased to 2/4 as population 
numbers have increased and that we are back to having a canvasback season this year. 
He said scaup, both greater and lesser are decreasing, and a harvest strategy has been 
agreed upon by the four flyways to have a three day limit with a shorter season.    
 
Coots and Common Moorhens 
 
Northern Zone dates are Oct. 17 – Jan. 30, 2010, and Southern Zone is Oct. 17 – Jan. 29, 
2010, except for the Moapa Valley portion of the Overton WMA. For the Moapa Valley 
portion of the Overton WMA the dates are Oct. 31 – Jan. 29, 2010. 
 
Common Snipe 
 
Mr. Mortimore said common snipe dates are the same for coots and common 
moorhens.  
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

33 
 

Canada and White Fronted Geese 
 
Mr. Mortimore said the Department is recommending concurrent openers for all web 
footed migratory game bird species, all geese, swans, ducks, and recommendation 
provided today is opener of Oct. 17 for all white-fronted and Canada geese. Snow geese 
is for possession limit of 10 and is because we don’t have a lot of snow goose harvest in 
Nevada.  
 
Falconry Seasons for Migratory Game Birds 
 
He said falconry season is recommended to run concurrent with general duck season. 
 
Tundra Swan  
 
Mr. Mortimore said opener is Oct. 17 and concludes Jan. 3, 2010, and tags available in 
special drawing as denoted in regulation.  
 
Commissioner McBeath said he and Commissioner Howell attended the waterfowl 
summit in the south and he thanked Mr. Mortimore and staff for coming down. He said 
that the meeting was excellent and showed document that Mr. Mortimore put together 
for the group and he learned a ton about ducks at this meeting relative to how they are 
surveyed, and that all the Wildlife Management Area (WMA) managers attended the 
meeting and reported on the status and conditions of the WMA’s with good hunter 
turnout and engaged discussions. He said at the end of the meeting was an issue on the 
Overton WMA and although they did not have staff at their CABMW meeting and came 
up with different recommendation but had the vote on decided by folks at the 
Waterfowl Summit (9 – 1 vote) and feels the format that was held this year should carry 
over to next year as he heard numerous comments on the positive results of the 
summit. Commissioner McBeath said the summit resolved the issues and worked well 
for everyone.  
 
Public Comment –  
 
Ken Wellington, Elko CABMW, said preliminary report denoted date was October 10 and 
the second date is October 17 and that hurts Elko CABMW as their waters are frozen 
over Jan. 1 and asked that a zone be created for northeastern Nevada as they lose 30 
days of duck hunting. 
 
Paul Dixon, Clark CABMW, said he agreed with Commissioner McBeath’s comments 
although he was unable to attend, he heard from others who had and they commented 
how positive the Summit was and he wanted provide to provide Mr. Mortimore with 
that personal recognition today. 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

34 
 

Rick Smith, Washoe CABMW, said Northern Summit was Aug. 9 and Mr. Mortimore 
made a point to leave the recommendations from the Summit for the Washoe CABMW 
meeting on Aug. 10 and they really appreciated having the information for their 
meeting. He said overall great job and Washoe CABMW supports the recommendations 
of the Department. 
 
Gil Yanuck, Carson CABMW, said Carson CABMW member Doug Martin attended the 
Northern Summit and Mr. Martin explained the recommendations to their board and 
they really appreciated having the information for their meeting to take action.  
 
Commissioner Howell asked with the federal regulations what is the earliest that the 
season could open. 
 
Mr. Mortimore said Sept 25 is the earliest opening date and we could change the date 
earlier for a separate zone for northeastern Nevada.  
 
Commissioner Mori said if he understands correctly we don’t have an option unless we 
change the season for the entire northern zone.  
 
Mr. Mortimore said the Commission has options within the framework established by 
the flyway. 
 
Chairman Lent asked if we could change the Elko dates. 
 
Mr. Mortimore said not today because he would have to take the proposal back to the 
Flyway and would need to be approved by the Regulation and Service Committee.  
 
COMMISSIONER MCBEATH MOVED TO APPROVE CR 09 - 08 FOR 2009 ς 2010 FOR 
MIGRATORY WATERFOWL AS PROPOSED BY THE DEPARTMENT. COMMISSIONER 
RAINE SECONDED THE MOTION.  
 
Commissioner Cavin said on the shooting hours we have ½ hour before sunrise and 
sunset and the rest has ½ and he wants to add the hour to the ½ of the shooting hours. 
 
Director Mayer said for next year we could start the process to add northeastern 
Nevada as a zone within the approval of the flyways. 
 
Mr. Mortimore said he will investigate the possibility of a northeastern Nevada zone and 
will report back to the Summit.  

 
 Commissioner Raine asked if the clarification on the hour needs to be included or not. 
 
 Mr. Mortimore said that is a typographical matter and can be fixed.   



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

35 
 

COMMISSIONERS IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION: RAINE, CAPURRO, CAVIN, HOWELL, 
KOBRIN, MCBEATH, MORI AND WALLACE. MOTION CARRIED 8 ς 0. 

 
14  Commission General Regulation 364 – Game Division Chief Mark Atkinson - Action 
 

COMMISSIONER MORI MOVED TO APPROVE CGR 364 AS COMMITTEE 
RECOMMENDED AND WAS PRESENTED. COMMISSIONER MCBEATH SECONDED THE 
MOTION. MOTION CARRIED 8 ς 0. 
 

15  Commission Policy #1 Second Reading – Commissioner Scott Raine – Action 
 
A Commission Policy #1, “General Guidelines for the Commission” 
 

Rick Smith, Washoe CABMW, again requested tabling action on Policy #1 so that the 
new language and change to election of officers could be sent back to the CABMWs one 
more time.  
 
Paul Dixon, Clark CABMW, said he would support Mr. Smith’s suggestion that when we 
make changes we would like to have them go back to the CABMWs. 
 
Jim Jenne, Lyon CABMW, said he also supports the changes being resent to the 
CABMWs. He said this Policy #1 was asked to be dropped and that was not done and 
would like this brought back 
 
Ken Wellington, Elko CABMW, said they did not support and would be easier to present 
to board and settle.  
 
Commissioner Raine said minor suggestions incorporated: The “purpose” on the fifth 
line, and the “procedure” section 1, first sentence 
  
Commissioner McBeath said in regard to Policy #1 that the change was not vetted by 
CABMWs and he would like to see Policy #1 go back to the CABMWs one more time.  
 
Commissioner Capurro said changes are a misplaced period and we could play this out 
for five or six meetings, and changes are concurrent with legislation passed.  
 
COMMISSIONER CAPURRO MOVED TO ADOPT POLICY #1, POLICY #3, AND POLICY #4, 
WITH THE AMENDMENTS DISCUSSED. COMMISSIONER HOWELL SECONDED THE 
MOTION.  
 
Commissioner Wallace said these are small changes and he is ready to vote and move 
on to next step. 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

36 
 

COMMISSIONERS IN FAVOR OF THE MOTION: RAINE, CAPURRO, CAVIN, HOWELL, 
KOBRIN, AND WALLACE. COMMISSIONERS OPPOSED: MCBEATH AND MORI. MOTION 
CARRIED 6 ς 2. 
 
Commissioner McBeath said he would like to have given the CABMWs chance to add 
additional language.  
 
Commissioner Capurro said recommendations can be made on policies at any time. 

 
 Reports - Informational 
 
8 C  Department Activities – Secretary Mayer 

 
Director Mayer said the minutes are backed up and hope to get caught up and that 
activity report is sent to everyone.   
 

8 D Heritage Committee – Commissioner Cavin  
 
Commissioner Cavin reported that the committee met and main purpose was to discuss 
the February meeting where a petition was received from John Zenz asking to reduce 
Partnership in Wildlife (PIW) tags from three to one. During the petition process Mr. 
Zenz asked to withdraw petition to refer the matter to the Heritage Committee adding 
auction tag input because five bighorn tags that could be taken from one area. 
Committee charged with evaluating situation with Department staff, and Big Game 
Biologist Mike Cox said as for biological impact that they adjust for that along with 
sociological impact. He had roundtable discussion with staff and public but was just a 
starting point and staff will put together background information on what PIW is doing 
and next phase will take into account Dream Tag and Silver State Tag and will have to 
evaluate as the problem will potentially grow. Commissioner Cavin said we need to get 
information to the CABMWs and let them brainstorm and get statewide participation. 
He said he does not want to have the CABMWs wait for this to be on a Commission 
agenda because if they start discussing now that at the next Heritage Committee there 
will be more feedback and take care of this at the season and quota setting meetings 
and does not plan to have this take years to implement.  
 
Judi Caron said she attended the meeting and most informative workshops she has 
attended and learned about PIW and how changing PIW quotas would not take a 
statute change and could be worked out. She said an excellent job was done at the 
meeting.  

 
 
 
 



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

37 
 

16 Future Commission Meeting – Director Ken Mayer – Action  
 
Director Mayer said at the September meeting in Las Vegas that one action item will be 
the Commission’s 2010 meeting calendar. 
 
Commissioner Capurro said he would like to discuss expanding the eligibility of the 
youth hunt age from 16 to 18, and would like to see field dressing added to hunter 
safety course. 
 
Chairman Lent asked that each Commissioner who has agenda items email them to him 
to insure that they don’t get missed and are added to the agenda.  
 
 
Note: The minutes are a synopsis of the meeting. At the Department of Wildlife 
headquarters in Reno is a complete record of the meeting, including recordings; and all 
the exhibits received/referenced during the meeting. The record is available upon request for 

review.  
 

 
  



NBWC August 14 and 15, 2009 
Meeting Minutes – Elko  

 

38 
 

 
 


